

1 **Biological Properties of Mucus from Land Snails**
2 **(*Lissachatina fulica*) and Freshwater Snails (*Pomacea***
3 ***canaliculata*) and Histochemical Study of Mucous**
4 **Cells in Their Foot**

5
6 Phornphan Phrompanya^{1,2}, Narinnida Suriyaruean¹, Nattawadee Nantarat¹, Supap Saenphet¹,
7 Yingmanee Tragoolpua¹, Kanokporn Saenphet¹

8
9 ¹ Department of Biology, Faculty of Science, Chiang Mai University, Chiang Mai, Thailand

10 ² Ph.D.'s Degree Program in Biology (International Program), Faculty of Science, Chiang Mai
11 University

12
13 Corresponding Author:

14 Kanokporn Saenphet¹

15 Department of Biology, Faculty of Science, Chiang Mai University, Chiang Mai, 50200,
16 Thailand

17 Email address: stit.lilo123@gmail.com

18
19 **Abstract**

20 **Background.** Mucus derived from many land snails has been extensively utilised in medicine
21 and cosmetics, but some biological activities of the mucus need to be well documented.

22 Nevertheless, most mucus is obtained from land snails, while mucus from freshwater snails
23 has yet to be attended.

24 **Methods.** This study aims to determine and compare mucus's antioxidant and anti-
25 inflammatory activities from the land snail *Lissachatina fulica* and the freshwater snail

26 *Pomacea canaliculata*. **ABTS, DPPH, reducing power and total antioxidant activity assays**

27 **were used to evaluate the antioxidant capacity. Inhibition of nitric oxide production in**

28 **lipopolysaccharide-activated RAW 264.7 cells was performed to determine the anti-**

29 **inflammatory activity.** Additionally, the histochemical analysis of mucous cells in each snail

30 foot was conducted to compare the distribution of mucous cells and types of mucins using

31 periodic acid-Schiff and Alcian blue staining.

32 **Results.** Mucus from *L. fulica* and *P. canaliculata* exhibited antioxidant and anti-

33 inflammatory activities in different parameters. *L. fulica* mucus has higher total antioxidant

34 **(44.71 ± 2.11 mg AAE/g) and nitric oxide inhibitory activities (IC₅₀ = 9.67 ± 0.31 µg/ml),**

Deleted: are not

Deleted: not been

Deleted: the

Deleted: of mucus

Deleted: the

40 whereas *P. canaliculata* mucus has better reducing power activity (43.63 ± 2.47 mg AAE/g)
41 and protein denaturation inhibition ($IC_{50} = 0.60 \pm 0.03$ mg/ml). Histochemically, both species'
42 dorsal and ventral foot regions contained neutral and acid mucins in different quantities. In
43 the dorsal region, the neutral mucins level in *L. fulica* (16.64 ± 3.46 %) was significantly
44 higher than that in *P. canaliculata* (11.19 ± 1.50 %), while the acid mucins level showed no
45 significant difference between species. Levels of both mucins in the ventral foot region of *L.*
46 *fulica* (15.08 ± 3.97 % and 10.76 ± 3.00 %, respectively) were significantly higher than those
47 of *P. canaliculata* (2.25 ± 0.48 % and 2.71 ± 0.56 %, respectively). This study revealed
48 scientific evidence of the biological capacity of mucus from *L. fulica* and *P. canaliculata* as
49 well as provided helpful information on the region of the foot which produces effective
50 mucus.

Deleted:

Deleted: the

Deleted: of both species

Deleted: useful

52 Introduction

53 Skin acts as a protective barrier against external threats such as UV radiation, pollutants, and
54 pathogens. However, the skin is constantly exposed to these harmful factors, which can
55 induce oxidative stress. An excess of reactive oxygen species (ROS), including free radicals, in
56 the body, can lead to cellular damage and dysfunction. Oxidative stress has been implicated
57 in various health issues and skin problems such as wrinkling, fine lines, allergies and cancer
58 (Sander et al., 2003; Tsuchida & Kobayashi, 2020). Moreover, oxidative stress can trigger an
59 inflammatory response in the skin. Although inflammation is a natural defence mechanism,
60 chronic or excessive inflammation can contribute to skin disorders such as acne, psoriasis,
61 eczema, and rosacea (Yang et al., 2022). The search for effective antioxidants has gained
62 considerable interest. Natural substances are the main source of antioxidants, including
63 vitamins, carotenoids, and phenolic compounds from plants, as well as animal proteins and
64 peptides. These antioxidants are considered safe products. Consequently, plant- and animal-
65 based antioxidants are widely applied in the pharmaceutical and cosmetic industries
66 (Abeyrathne et al., 2022).

Deleted: allergic

Deleted: defense

Deleted: from animals

67 Snail secretion, or snail mucus, is one of the most popular ingredients in cosmeceutical
68 products. The mucus is secreted by mucous glands located in the footplate and covers the
69 whole external surface of the animal. It is mainly used to reduce friction, protect the snail
70 foot during locomotion, maintain moisture, and help their mating and hunting activities
71 (Richter, 1980). Snail mucus is a natural substance containing different biological properties,
72 such as antimicrobial, anticancer, anti-inflammation, and wound healing (Mane et al., 2021;
73 McDermott et al., 2021). Nowadays, various companies extensively use snail mucus in skin
74 care products, and it is a growing market (McDermott et al., 2021). *Lissachatina fulica*, the

Deleted: foot plate

Deleted: snail mucus is

Deleted: used

Deleted: by various companies

86 giant African snail, is a terrestrial snail whose mucus has been used since ancient times.
87 Aqueous extracts of mucus from *L. fulica* showed in vitro anti-inflammatory activities,
88 including anti-proteinase, anti-lipoxygenase and anti-protein denaturation (*Wiya, Nantarat*
89 *& Saenphet, 2020*), antibacterial, and wound healing activities (*Santana et al., 2012*). Mucus
90 from *L. fulica* is applied as a cosmetic ingredient (*Nguyen, Masub & Jagdeo, 2020*), but there
91 still needs to be more reporting on some biological properties of this mucus.

Deleted: is

Deleted: a lack of

92 Despite the high species diversity of snails, the mucus from only a few species has been
93 studied and applied in commercial products. *Pomacea canaliculata*, the golden apple snail, is
94 a compelling freshwater snail that has rich mucus covering the body surface. The
95 antibacterial activity of the mucus from this species has been reported (*Nantarat, Tragoolpua*
96 *& Gunama, 2019*), but its antioxidant and anti-inflammatory activities have yet to be
97 evaluated.

Deleted: not been

98 Mucins, the bioactive substances in mucus, are classified into neutral or acid mucins,
99 distinguished based on their histochemical characteristics (*Filipe, 1979*). Acid mucins are
100 quite important as a protective function due to their moisturising and antibacterial abilities
101 (*Faillard & Schauer, 1972; Cao & Wang, 2009*). Therefore, mucus that contains a high acid
102 mucin proportion should provide better biological activity and cosmeceutical properties.

Deleted: which are

103 Several studies used histochemical staining techniques to classify mucin type, associated
104 with function in each organ (*Grau et al., 1992; Sarasquete et al., 2001; Greistorfer et al.,*
105 *2017*). The foot histology of *L. fulica* and *P. canaliculata* was demonstrated in our previous
106 study, which found differences of mucous cell distribution between the dorsal-ventral foot
107 area and between species (*Phrompanya et al., 2022*). The mucin types and mucous cell
108 distribution of *L. fulica* foot tissue were investigated only at the juvenile stage (1–3 months)
109 using histological and histochemical techniques (*Suwannapan et al., 2019*). Nevertheless, a
110 histochemical study of the *P. canaliculata* foot has not been presented, only a basic
111 histological study was revealed (*Peña & Pocsidio, 2017*).

Deleted:

Deleted: which is

112 Wide commercial products incorporate mucus derived from *L. fulica*, but some biological
113 effects and the foot histochemistry of this species have yet to be well documented. Moreover,
114 a high mucous-secreting snail, like *P. canaliculata*, does not get as much attention. Therefore,
115 the present study proposes to evaluate and compare the biological activities, such as the
116 terrestrial and freshwater snail's antioxidant and anti-inflammatory effects. In addition, this
117 study investigated their foot histochemical features, focusing on the mucous cells to classify
118 types of mucus in different regions of the foot and compare these two species. The results
119 provided more scientific evidence of the biological properties of the snail mucus and the

Deleted: not been

Deleted: ,

Deleted: , of the terrestrial snail and the freshwater snail

Deleted: between

130 histochemical pattern of the mucus-secreting area in the snail foot, which helps obtain an
131 effective mucus during collection.

Deleted: is useful to

133 **Materials & Methods**

134 **Animals and sample collection**

135 Thirty adult giant African snails (*Lissachatina fulica*) and golden apple snails (*Pomacea*
136 *canaliculata*) were collected from Chiang Mai province and identified based on shell
137 morphology and compared with original descriptions (Brandt, 1974). The collected snails
138 were grown in the laboratory. All animal procedures were approved by the Ethics and
139 Animal Care Committee of Chiang Mai University, following the guidelines given by the
140 National Institute of Health Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals.

142 **Mucus collection**

143 To avoid contamination, the snails were kept without feeding for three days before mucus
144 collection. Subsequently, the snails were manually stimulated at their foot regions and
145 approximately 2 ml of mucus secretion per individual were collected, filtered through
146 Whatman No.1 filter paper using vacuum filtration, and stored at 4 °C. The filtered mucus
147 was analyzed for total protein content using the method from Bradford (1976) before in vitro
148 analysis.

Deleted: The

Deleted: to avoid contamination

150 **Chemicals and reagents**

151 All chemicals were analytical reagent grade. Gallic acid, 1,1-diphenyl-2-picrylhydrazyl
152 (DPPH), 2,2-azino-bis-(3-ethylbenzothiazoline-6-sulphonic acid) (ABTS), hematoxylin,
153 eosin, alcian blue 8GX (AB), sulfanilamide, N-naphthylethylenediamine dihydrochloride,
154 Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM) and 3-(4,5-Dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-
155 diphenyltetrazolium bromide (MTT) were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (Steinheim,
156 Germany). Methanol, trichloroacetic acid, sulfuric acid, deionised water, dimethyl sulfoxide
157 (DMSO), formaldehyde, hydrochloric acid (HCl), sodium sulphate, potassium persulfate and
158 potassium ferricyanide were purchased from RCL Labscan (Bangkok, Thailand). Ascorbic
159 acid, ferric chloride and ammonium molybdate were purchased from Ajax Finechem Pty.
160 Ltd. (Auckland, New Zealand).

Deleted: deionized

162 **Determination of in vitro antioxidant activity**

163 The antioxidant activity assays were performed to evaluate the capacity of snail mucus to
164 inhibit different free radicals DPPH₂ and ABTS radical scavenging assays were conducted
165 based on hydrogen atom transfer and electron transfer reactions, respectively. Reducing

170 power ability was evaluated by measuring the transformation of Fe (III) to Fe (II), and total
171 antioxidant activity was evaluated by measuring the reduction of Mo (VI) to Mo (V).

172
173 **DPPH radical scavenging activity**

174 The DPPH radical scavenging activity of mucus and gallic acid (used as a standard) was
175 determined in terms of hydrogen-donating ability following the method of *Tagashira &*
176 *Ohtake (1998)*. The stable DPPH radical solution was freshly prepared at 0.004% in
177 methanol. 100 µl of the sample were mixed with 3.0 ml of DPPH solution and incubated for
178 30 min in the dark. The absorbance was measured at 517 nm. The scavenging activity was
179 calculated based on the percentage of DPPH scavenged using the following formula:

180
$$\% \text{ scavenging} = [(A_0 - A_s)/A_0] \times 100$$

181 Where A_0 is the absorbance of the DPPH solution and A_s is the absorbance of the sample at
182 30 min (mucus or gallic acid).

183
184 **ABTS radical scavenging activity**

185 The ABTS assay was conducted according to the method of *Re et al. (1999)*. The ABTS
186 radical stock solution was prepared by mixing equal volumes of 7 mM ABTS solution and
187 2.45 mM potassium persulfate solution. The solution was incubated for 12 h in the dark to
188 create ABTS radicals observed by the solution, which was turned to dark. This solution was
189 freshly diluted using deionised water to create a working solution before each assay for an
190 initial absorbance of about 0.7 ± 0.02 at 734 nm. The radical scavenging assay was performed
191 by adding 20 µl of different concentrations of mucus to 2.0 ml of ABTS working solution.
192 After mixing the solution, the decrease in absorbance was read after 1 min. The absorbance
193 was recorded at 734 nm against distilled water and compared with the ABTS solution. Gallic
194 acid was used as the positive control. The activity was evaluated as the percentage of ABTS
195 radicals scavenged using the following formula:

196
$$\% \text{ scavenging} = [(A_0 - A_s)/A_0] \times 100$$

197 Where A_0 is the absorbance of the ABTS solution and A_s is the absorbance of the sample
198 (mucus or gallic acid).

199
200 **Reducing power ability**

201 The reducing ability of samples was estimated using a Fe (III) to Fe (II) reduction assay using
202 the method of *Oyaizu (1986)*. 100 µl of different samples and ascorbic acid (used as a
203 standard) were added to 1.0 ml of phosphate buffer (0.2 M, pH 6.6) and 1.0 ml of potassium
204 ferricyanide (1% w/v). The mixtures were incubated at 50 °C for 20 min, then 1.0 ml of 10%
205 trichloroacetic acid was added to each tube. 2 ml of the mixture was mixed with an equal

Deleted: deionized

207 volume of distilled water and 0.2 ml of ferric chloride solution (0.1% w/v). The absorbance
208 was measured at 700 nm, and phosphate buffer was used as the blank solution.

210 **Total antioxidant activity**

211 The total antioxidant activity of samples was determined using the phosphomolybdate assay
212 (*Umamaheswari & Chatterjee, 2008*) based on the Mo (VI)-Mo (V) reduction of the sample.
213 3.0 ml of the reaction mixture, containing 0.6 M sulfuric acid, 28 mM sodium phosphate, and
214 4 mM ammonium molybdate, was mixed with 300 µl of sample and incubated at 95 °C for 90
215 min. After cooling, the absorbance of the solution was read at 695 nm against distilled water
216 as the blank. The total antioxidant capacity was presented as µg ascorbic acid equivalent per
217 mg protein (µg AAE/mg protein).

Deleted: Total

219 **Determination of anti-inflammatory activity**

220 The anti-inflammatory activity was evaluated by measuring the inhibition of nitric oxide
221 (NO) production using a macrophage inflammatory assay and the inhibition of protein
222 denaturation.

224 **Cell culture and cell viability assay**

225 RAW 264.7, a mouse macrophage cell line, was obtained from the Division of Microbiology,
226 Department of Biology, Faculty of Science, Chiang Mai University, Chiang Mai, Thailand.
227 The cells were cultured in DMEM containing 10 % fetal bovine serum (FBS), 100 U/ml
228 penicillin, and 100 µg/ml streptomycin at 37 °C in a 5% CO₂ humidified incubator. The cell
229 viability was performed using a modified MTT assay (*Mosmann, 1983*). After overnight
230 culture in a 96-well plate (1×10^6 cells/well), the medium was discarded and replaced with
231 100 µl of the sample (0.4 to 200 µg protein/ml) then the cells were re-incubated for 24 h at 37
232 °C in 5% CO₂. After incubating, the sample in each well was removed, and 30 µl of MTT
233 solution (2 mg/ml in phosphate-buffered saline) was added to each well and incubated at 37
234 °C for 4 h. Subsequently, 200 µl of DMSO was added to each well to dissolve the formazan
235 crystals, and the absorbance was measured at 540 nm. The concentration of mucus that could
236 reduce the absorbance to 50% compared to untreated cells was used as the median lethal
237 concentration (LC₅₀) value.

Deleted: were

Deleted:

239 **Inhibition of NO production**

240 The level of NO, an acute inflammatory mediator released from macrophage cells, was
241 indirectly determined based on the Griess reaction. RAW 264.7 cells (1×10^6 cells/ml) were
242 incubated with lipopolysaccharide (LPS) (1 µg/ml) and treated with 100 µl of mucus for 24 h.

246 The amount of NO was indirectly measured in the form of nitrite in the culture medium.
247 Briefly, the culture medium was incubated with an equal volume of Griess reagent for 15
248 min in the dark at room temperature, and the absorbance was measured at 550 nm. ~~The~~
249 ~~inhibition~~ of NO production was calculated as a percentage using the following formula, and
250 ~~each sample's half-maximal inhibitory concentration (IC50)~~ was determined.

$$251 \quad \% \text{ inhibition} = [(A_c - A_s)/A_c] \times 100$$

252 Where A_c is the absorbance of the control LPS and A_s is the absorbance of the sample.

254 **Inhibition of protein denaturation assay**

255 The method was conducted according to *Kumari et al. (2015)*. The reaction mixture consisted
256 of 0.1 ml of egg albumin, 1.9 ml of phosphate-buffered saline (PBS, pH 6.4), and 1 ml of the
257 mucus at different concentrations. Distilled water (1 ml) was used instead of the mucus as a
258 negative control. The reaction mixture was incubated at 37 °C for 15 min ~~and~~ then heated at
259 70 °C for 5 min. After cooling at room temperature, the absorbance was measured at 660 nm
260 using a spectrophotometer. Sodium diclofenac ~~was used as a standard drug in~~ concentrations
261 of 0.01, 0.1, 0.25, 0.5, and 1.0 mg/ml. Inhibition of albumin denaturation was calculated as a
262 percentage using the following equation, and the half-maximal inhibitory concentration
263 (IC_{50}) of each sample was determined.

$$264 \quad \% \text{ inhibition} = [(A_s - A_c)/A_c] \times 100$$

265 Where A_c is the absorbance of control and A_s is the absorbance of ~~the~~ sample.

267 **Histochemical analysis**

268 **Tissue sample preparation**

269 Ten adults of each snail species were used to prepare tissue sections. Small pieces of the foot
270 were dissected and fixed in 10% neutral buffered formalin for 24 h. The fixed tissues were
271 decalcified by soaking in 10% HCl for 2 h and ~~neutralised~~ by sodium sulphate for 12 h. The
272 tissues were washed in running tap water before processing using a standard paraffin
273 technique and cut into 6 µm-thick sections for histological and histochemical study.

275 **Tissue staining**

276 The sections from every tissue sample were stained with Harris's haematoxylin and eosin
277 (H&E) for ~~standard~~ histological study (*Harris, 1900*). For histochemical ~~characterisation~~,
278 sections were stained with periodic acid-Schiff (PAS) for the detection of neutral mucins
279 (*McManus, 1948*) and Alcian blue (AB) at pH 2.5 for acid mucins (*Mowry, 1956*). All sections
280 were observed under a light microscope and photographed using an Olympus DP12 camera.
281

Deleted: Inhibition

Deleted: the

Deleted:

Deleted: of each sample

Formatted: Not Superscript/ Subscript

Deleted: , in the

Deleted: , was used as a standard drug.

Deleted: ,

Deleted:

Deleted: neutralized

Deleted: normal

Deleted: characterization

293 **Quantification of mucins**

294 The PAS- and AB-stained sections were used to identify the different types of mucin-
295 secreting mucous cells in the dorsal and ventral foot surfaces. Images of each surface were
296 taken (three fields per section and three sections per individual). Image analysis software,
297 ImagesJ (National Institutes of Health, version 1.50i), was used to measure the area of stained
298 mucin following the colour deconvolution and quantification method (*Ruifrok & Johnston,*
299 *2001*). The results were calculated as a percentage area of acid or neutral mucins and
300 presented as mean \pm SD values.

301

302 **Statistical analysis**

303 The results were analysed using SPSS version 17 for Windows. For antioxidant and anti-
304 inflammatory activities, independent sample t-tests and one-way ANOVA, followed by
305 Tukey's test for multiple comparisons, were used to compare the ability between mucus of
306 different species. For the study of mucin quantification, an independent sample t-test was
307 used to compare the percentage area of mucin between dorsal-ventral areas and between
308 different species at a 5% level of significance.

309

310 **Results**

311 Protein concentration in the filtered fresh mucus was estimated before use. The results
312 showed that the protein contents of the *L. fulica* mucus and the *P. canaliculata* mucus were
313 1.49 ± 0.37 and 1.13 ± 0.19 mg/ml, respectively. Therefore, the mucus concentration was
314 adjusted to 1 mg/ml, which was used as the maximum concentration for this study.

315

316 **Antioxidant activity**

317 Antioxidant activities of the snail mucus are shown in Table 1. Mucus from *L. fulica* and *P.*
318 *canaliculata* at 1 mg/ml showed no free radical scavenging activity of DPPH and weakly
319 scavenged ABTS radical cation. The *L. fulica* mucus exhibited the reducing power of 36.02
320 mg AAE/g protein, while *P. canaliculata* mucus showed a higher reducing power of 43.63 mg
321 AAE/g protein at the same concentration. Furthermore, the result of total antioxidant
322 activity revealed that the *L. fulica* mucus showed a higher total antioxidant activity of 44.71
323 mg AAE/g.

324

325 **Anti-inflammatory activity**

326 Cell viability and NO inhibitory activity of the mucus are shown in Table 2 as the LC₅₀ value
327 for cytotoxicity and the IC₅₀ value for inhibition of NO production. The concentrations of
328 the mucus that yielded cell viability higher than 90% were used for NO inhibitory analysis.

Deleted: analyzed

Deleted: comparison

331 It was observed that 90% of the RAW 264.7 macrophage cells were viable at the
332 concentration of 0.39 to 12.5 µg/ml for *L. fulica* mucus, and the LC₅₀ value is 96.89 µg/ml.
333 The per cent viability of the RAW 264.7 cells treated with *P. canaliculata* mucus was lower
334 than that treated with *L. fulica* mucus at the same concentrations with a non-significant
335 difference (Fig. 1). The highest concentrations of the mucus from *L. fulica* and *P. canaliculata*
336 used in the NO production assay were 12.50 and 0.78 µg/ml, respectively.

337 The inhibitory potentials of the mucus on proinflammatory molecule NO are presented in
338 Fig. 2. The highest concentration of *P. canaliculata* mucus (0.78 µg/ml) exhibited only
339 16.79% NO inhibition; therefore, the IC₅₀ of *P. canaliculata* mucus could not be determined.
340 *L. fulica* mucus exhibited a significant dose-dependent decrease in NO production. The
341 highest concentration of *L. fulica* mucus (12.50 µg/ml) showed 61.90% NO inhibition, and its
342 IC₅₀ value was 9.67 ± 0.31 µg/ml. Strong inhibitory activity was found in *L. fulica* mucus at
343 3.13, 6.25, and 12.5 µg/ml concentrations, presenting a significant difference from the
344 untreated group (control LPS) at p < 0.01.

345 For the evaluation of protein denaturation, *L. fulica* and *P. canaliculata* exhibited the
346 inhibitory capacity of 66.28% and 71.56%, respectively (Fig. 3). *P. canaliculata* mucus
347 demonstrated a significant ability to inhibit protein denaturation compared to that of *L.*
348 *fulica*, which the IC₅₀ values of each sample could indicate in Table 3.

350 Histochemical characteristics of mucous cells in foot tissues

351 The histological structures of *L. fulica* and *P. canaliculata* showed that their foot tissues
352 consist of two main layers: the epithelium, which contributes simple columnar cells, and the
353 sub-epithelium, the location of most mucous cells. The results showed that a large number of
354 mucous cells was located in the sub-epithelial layer of the dorsal foot areas of both species.
355 The ventral foot area of *L. fulica* contained small mucous cells distributed in the sub-
356 epithelium, In contrast, mucous cells in the ventral foot area of *P. canaliculata* were found
357 only in the epithelial layer.

358 The present study used special staining techniques to compare the histochemical
359 characteristics of the foot tissues of two species of snails, focusing on mucous secretory cells
360 in different regions of the foot. Two shapes of mucous cells, tubular and round, were found
361 in the dorsal foot area of both species (Figs. 4A, 5A) in different sizes and levels of mucin
362 histochemical reaction (Table 4). The mucous cells of both species were positively stained for
363 PAS with a purple colour and AB (pH 2.5) with a blue colour, suggesting the presence of
364 neutral and acid mucins, respectively (Figs. 4B-C, 5B-C). In *L. fulica*, large and medium
365 mucous cells were densely located in the dorsal foot area with moderate PAS- and AB-

Deleted: percent

Deleted: the concentrations of

Deleted: by

Deleted: could be indicated by

Formatted: Not Superscript/ Subscript

Deleted: which is

Deleted: , while

372 positive reactions. Small mucous cells were scattered throughout the ventral area with the
373 same reaction. In *P. canaliculata*, the dorsal foot area contained medium mucous cells with
374 strong PAS- and AB-positive reactions, and the ventral area showed a moderate reaction
375 with both stains in mucous cells in the epithelium.

376 This study also determined the quantification of the mucous layer by measuring the
377 stained mucin area. The results determined that the dorsal region of the snail foot was the
378 main area of mucus secretion related with a percentage of stained mucin areas. In particular,
379 the neutral and acid mucins in the dorsal foot region of *P. canaliculata* had a significantly
380 higher percentage of the stained area than that of the ventral region. Differences of the
381 stained mucin areas were also found between species. The area of neutral mucins in the *L.*
382 *fulica* foot was significantly larger than that of *P. canaliculata* when compared to the same
383 foot region. Acid mucins in the ventral foot region of *L. fulica* covered a significantly larger
384 area than that in *P. canaliculata*. *Still, there* was no significant difference in the dorsal foot
385 region between *P. canaliculata* and *L. fulica*. The area of stained mucin *is* shown in Fig. 6.

387 Discussion

388 Snail mucus is commonly used for treating injuries and as a key ingredient in cosmeceuticals.
389 This is because several substances found in snail mucus have therapeutic properties that
390 provide antioxidant and anti-inflammatory benefits. This study determined the antioxidant
391 ability of mucus from *L. fulica* and *P. canaliculata* using different free radical-generating
392 systems.

393 The radical scavenging activity of mucus was evaluated by DPPH and ABTS assays. In the
394 DPPH assay, the antioxidant activity of mucus from both species could not be exhibited. The
395 mucus could scavenge the ABTS radical, indicating the ability of the mucus by donating an
396 electron. The mucus from both snail species also showed reducing power; the activity of *P.*
397 *canaliculata* mucus was significantly higher than the activity of the *L. fulica* mucus. The
398 reducing power is associated with the presence of reductants in the sample, which causes the
399 reduction of Fe (III) to Fe (II) by donating a hydrogen ion. This reducing capacity reduces
400 metal ions, especially ferrous ion which is pro-oxidant. In addition, our findings presented a
401 different consequence from reducing power, where *L. fulica* mucus exhibited better total
402 antioxidant activity than *P. canaliculata* mucus. These results indicated that antioxidant
403 activity of the snail mucus was attributed to reducing capacity. This finding agrees with
404 previous research which indicated that the extract from *L. fulica* mucus was particularly
405 effective in reducing capacity, but it showed no DPPH free radical scavenging activity (Kao
406 *et al.*, 2019). This study is the first report for the antioxidant activity of mucus from *P.*

Deleted: , but

Formatted: Font: Italic

Deleted: was

Deleted: the treatment of

Deleted: component of

Deleted: The

Deleted: of several substances usually contribute to their

Deleted: capacities

414 *canaliculata*. The antioxidant structure and series of redox reactions in the activity influence
415 the hydrogen or electron donation pattern of antioxidants (Gupta et al., 2016). Low
416 molecular weight substances in snail mucus, such as vitamins C and E, phenolic compounds,
417 uric acid, and uronic acid, generate antioxidant properties (Wang et al., 2010). The
418 antioxidant ability of snail mucus is also related to the different peptides contained in each
419 mucus, including amino acid composition, molecular mass, and hydrophobicity (Wang et al.,
420 2016). Our findings suggest that mucus from *L. fulica* and *P. canaliculata* demonstrates the
421 possibility of antioxidant activity as natural antioxidants.

422 In addition to having antioxidant ability, mucus from *L. fulica* and *P. canaliculata* also
423 exhibited good anti-inflammatory activities with anti-NO production and anti-protein
424 denaturation. NO is a proinflammatory mediator which has a role in several features of
425 inflammatory diseases. A low level of NO production is necessary for maintaining normal
426 body functions. In contrast, high concentrations of NO are due to the appearance of the
427 inducible form of nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) in cells like macrophages and reacts with
428 superoxide anions, generating peroxynitrite, which leads to the oxidation of low-density
429 lipoprotein and causes cell apoptosis and subsequent inflammation (Ohshima & Bartsch,
430 1994; Smith & Lassmann, 2002). The results observed in this study showed that both mucus
431 samples could decrease the production of NO in macrophage cells with concentration-
432 dependent activity. The anti-inflammatory ability was correlated with the antioxidant
433 activity because some antioxidants act as anti-inflammatory agents (Traber, 2007; Gęgotek &
434 Skrzydlewska, 2022). Protein denaturation, when a protein loses its tertiary and secondary
435 structures by external stress, heat, or strong acid or base (Prasad, Yashwant & Aeri, 2013), is
436 related with the occurrence of the inflammation response. Major anti-inflammatory drugs,
437 like NSAIDs, have been attributed to the capacity of anti-protein denaturation (Alamgeer,
438 Uttra & Hasan, 2017). In the present study, the *P. canaliculata* mucus exhibited a more
439 potent anti-inflammatory effect than the *L. fulica* mucus.

440 Despite several applications of mucus from snail foot tissues, the histological and
441 histochemical studies still need to be developed. Our previous study included ultrastructural
442 studies on the snail foot tissue and the mucous cell localisation reported in *L. fulica* and *P.*
443 *canaliculata*. The dorsal-ventral foot regions were observed, and it was found that their foot
444 tissues were structurally similar. Still, the mucous cells of *L. fulica* and *P. canaliculata* differ
445 in size and abundance (Phrompanya et al., 2022). Mucins, the primary component of snail
446 mucus, are responsible for several biological activities. To evaluate the structure, distribution,
447 and function of mucus, detecting mucin types is necessary. In this study, the foot tissues of *L.*
448 *fulica* and *P. canaliculata* were histochemically observed to classify mucin types in each foot

Deleted: happening

Deleted: pattern of

Deleted: contained

Deleted: , whereas

Deleted: a

Deleted: remain surprisingly underdeveloped.

Deleted: localization

Deleted: , but

Deleted: the detection of

458 region. Several studies utilize the standard histochemical classification of mucus secretions,
459 especially the PAS and AB methods, since the different types of mucins contained in mucous
460 cells can guide the functions of the mucous cells (*Di et al., 2012*) and the viscosity of mucus
461 (*Grenon & Walker, 1980*).

462 The results of this study determined that the secretory product of the mucous cells in both
463 species contained two types of mucins: one type produces a secretion containing neutral
464 mucins, which stain positive with PAS, and acid mucins, which stain positive with AB. The
465 ventral mucous cells of *L. fulica* presented many neutral and acid mucins which are related
466 with their existence on land surfaces. The dorsal foot area of *P. canaliculata* secreted acid
467 mucins in the same quantity as the dorsal foot area of *L. fulica*. Acid mucins create high
468 viscosity of the mucus and play biological roles, such as reducing dehydration from their
469 skin, or moisturising, and providing antibiotic and antipredator properties (*Jeong et al.,*
470 *2001*). Neutral mucins play an essential role in the locomotion of snails by providing low-
471 viscosity mucus (*Grenon & Walker, 1978*). According to this information, acid mucins are
472 quite important in protective functions. It contributes highly viscous and good lubricant
473 because it is not easily hydrated and removed from the epithelium (*Faillard & Schauer, 1972*)
474 and facilitates protection against bacteria (*Cao & Wang, 2009*). Therefore, mucus that
475 contains a high proportion of acid mucins should provide better biological activity and
476 cosmeceutical properties; however, the variation of mucin types could correlate with the age
477 of the snails. The 3-month-old snail with a larger body size could produce more acid mucins
478 than the 1- and 2-month-old snails (*Suwannapan et al., 2019*). The level of mucins is also
479 affected by environmental factors, such as parasite infections (*Prociv, Spratt & Carlisle, 2000*)
480 and metal exposure (*Londhe & Kamble, 2014*). Therefore, environmental disturbances may
481 impact mucus production and its biological properties.

482 **Conclusions**

483 Our research has shown that the mucus from *L. fulica* and *P. canaliculata* possess antioxidant
484 and anti-inflammatory properties. We have also studied the histochemical characteristics and
485 distribution of mucins in the snail foot tissues. The mucus from *L. fulica* showed significant
486 total antioxidant activity and was able to reduce NO production in LPS-induced macrophage
487 cells. On the other hand, the mucus from *P. canaliculata* demonstrated notable reducing
488 power and anti-protein denaturation properties. The dorsal foot region was the main area of
489 acid mucin secretion; therefore, mucus from *L. fulica* and *P. canaliculata* should be collected
490 from their dorsal foot region to obtain more effective mucus. The mucus found in freshwater
491

Deleted: moisturizing

Deleted: important

Deleted:

Deleted: also

Deleted: the

Deleted: from the environment

Deleted: their

Deleted: The present

Deleted: provided evidence of antioxidant and anti-inflammatory activities of

Deleted: and presented

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Deleted: the

Deleted: **presented**

Formatted: Not Highlight

Formatted: Font: Not Italic, Not Highlight

Formatted: Not Highlight

Formatted: Not Highlight

Deleted: **reduced**

Formatted: Not Highlight

Deleted: **Meanwhile**

Deleted: **exhibited**

Formatted: Not Highlight

Formatted: Font: Not Italic, Not Highlight

Formatted: Not Highlight

Moved down [1]: *fulica*).

Deleted: This study suggested that mucus from freshwater snails (*P. canaliculata*) could be applied in medical and cosmetic products, similarly to land snails (*L.*

512 [snails \(*P. canaliculata*\) may have potential applications in medical and cosmetic products,](#)
513 [akin to those of land snails \(*L. fulica*\).](#)

Moved (insertion) [1]

514
515
516
517

518 **Acknowledgements**

519 This research was supported by Department of Biology, Faculty of Science, Chiang Mai
520 University and the Ph.D.'s Degree Program in Biology (International Program), Faculty of
521 Science, Chiang Mai University. We also thank the Applied Microbiology laboratory unit,
522 Department of Biology, Faculty of Science, Chiang Mai University for their help with the
523 cell culture. Support from the Graduate School, Chiang Mai University is kindly
524 acknowledged. The authors would like to thank Philip Martin Jones for the language review
525 of this manuscript.

526

527 **Abbreviations**

528 AAE: Ascorbic acid equivalent; AB: Alcian blue; ABTS: 2,2-azino-bis-(3-
529 ethylbenzothiazoline-6-sulphonic acid); ANOVA: One-way analysis of variance; DMEM:
530 Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium; DMSO: Dimethylsulfoxide; GAE: Gallic acid
531 equivalents; H&E: haematoxylin and eosin; IC₅₀: A half maximal inhibitory concentration;
532 LC₅₀: the median lethal concentration; LPS: Lipopolysaccharide; MTT: 3-(4,5-
533 Dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide; NO: Nitric oxide; PAS: periodic
534 acid-Schiff; PBS: phosphate-buffered saline; QE: Quercetin equivalent; ROS: Reactive oxygen
535 species; SD: Standard deviation.

536

537 **References**

- 538 Abeyrathne E, Nam K, Huang X, Ahn DU. 2022. Plant- and animal-based antioxidants' structure,
539 efficacy, mechanisms, and applications: a review. *Antioxidants (Basel)* 11. DOI:
540 [10.3390/antiox11051025](https://doi.org/10.3390/antiox11051025)
- 541 Alamgeer, Ultra AM, Hasan UH. 2017. Anti-arthritis activity of aqueous-methanolic extract and
542 various fractions of *Berberis orthobotrys* Bien ex Aitch. *BMC Complementary and*
543 *Alternative Medicine* 17:371. DOI: 10.1186/s12906-017-1879-9
- 544 Bradford MM. 1976. A rapid and sensitive method for the quantitation of microgram quantities of
545 protein utilizing the principle of protein-dye binding. *Analytical Biochemistry* 72:248-254.
546 DOI: 10.1006/abio.1976.9999
- 547 Brandt RAM. 1974. The non-marine aquatic Mollusca of Thailand. *Archiv für Molluskenkunde*
548 [105:1-423.](https://doi.org/10.1006/abio.1976.9999)

549 Cao XJ, Wang WM. 2009. Histology and mucin histochemistry of the digestive tract of yellow catfish,
550 *Pelteobagrus fulvidraco*. *Anatomia Histologia Embryologia* 38:254-261. DOI: 10.1111/j.1439-
551 0264.2009.00932.x

552 Di G. 2012. Types and distribution of mucous cells of the abalone *Haliotis diversicolor*. *African*
553 *Journal of Biotechnology* 11. DOI: 10.5897/AJB10.2066

554 Faillard H, Schauer R. 1972. Glycoproteins as lubricants, protective agents, carriers, structural
555 proteins and as participants in other functions. In: Gottschalk A, ed. *Glycoproteins. Their*
556 *Composition, Structure and Function, Part B*. Amsterdam: Elsevier, 1246-1267.

557 Filipe MI. 1979. Mucins in the human gastrointestinal epithelium: a review. *Investigative and Cell*
558 *Pathology* 2:195-216.

559 Gegotek A, Skrzydlewska E. 2022. Antioxidative and anti-inflammatory activity of ascorbic acid.
560 *Antioxidants* 11: 1993. DOI: 10.3390/antiox11101993

561 Grau A, Crespo S, Sarasquete MC, de Canales MLG. 1992. The digestive tract of the amberjack *Seriola*
562 *dumerili*, Risso: a light and scanning electron microscope study. *Journal of Fish Biology*
563 41:287-303. DOI: 10.1111/j.1095-8649.1992.tb02658.x

564 Greistorfer S, Klepal W, Cyran N, Gugumuck A, Rudoll L, Suppan J, von Byern J. 2017. Snail mucus -
565 glandular origin and composition in *Helix pomatia*. *Zoology (Jena)* 122:126-138. DOI:
566 10.1016/j.zool.2017.05.001

567 Grenon JF, Walker G. 1978. The histology and histochemistry of the pedal glandular system of two
568 limpets, *Patella vulgata* and *Acmaea tessulata* (Gastropoda: Prosobranchia). *Journal of the*
569 *Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom* 58:803-816. DOI:
570 10.1017/S0025315400056770

571 Grenon Jf, Walker G. 1980. Biochemical and rheological properties of the pedal mucus of the limpet
572 *Patella vulgata*. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology B* 66:451-458.

573 Gupta K, Maurya S, Agarwal S, Kushwaha A, Kumar R, Pandey AK, Ak S, Verma V, Singh M. 2016.
574 Antioxidant assessment of extracts obtained through hot extraction process. *Cellular and*
575 *Molecular Biology* 62:1-5 (1000129). DOI: 10.4172/1165-158X.1000129

576 Harris HF. 1900. On the rapid conversion of haematoxylin into hibernation in staining reactions.
577 *Journal of Applied Microscopy and Laboratory Methods* 3:777-780.

578 Jeong J, Toida T, Muneta Y, Kosiishi I, Imanari T, Linhardt RJ, Choi HS, Wu SJ, Kim YS. 2001.
579 Localization and characterization of acharan sulfate in the body of the giant African snail
580 *Achatina fulica*. *Comparative biochemistry and physiology. Part B, Biochemistry & molecular*
581 *biology* 130:513-519. DOI: 10.1016/s1096-4959(01)00468-7

582 Kao C-J, Chou H-Y, Lin Y-C, Liu Q, Wang H-M. 2019. Functional Analysis of Macromolecular
583 Polysaccharides: Whitening, Moisturizing, Anti-Oxidant, and Cell Proliferation. *Antioxidants*
584 8:533. DOI: 10.3390/antiox8110533

585 Kumari C, Yasmin N, Hussain M, Babu MB. 2015. In vitro anti-inflammatory and anti-arthritis
586 property of *Rhizopora mucronata* leaves. *International Journal of Pharma Sciences and*
587 *Research* 6(3):482-485.

588 Londhe S, Kamble N. 2014. Mucin reactivity after acute exposure to mercury and zinc chloride in
589 neurocytes of freshwater snail *Bellamya bengalensis*: A Histochemical Study. *Advances in*
590 *Environmental Chemistry* 2014:1-11. DOI: 10.1155/2014/750408

591 Mane PC, Sayyed SAR, Kadam DD, D.Shinde M, Fatehmulla A, Aldhafiri AM, Alghamdi EA,
592 Amalnerkar DP, Chaudhari RD. 2021. Terrestrial snail-mucus mediated green synthesis of

Formatted: Spanish

Formatted: Spanish

593 silver nanoparticles and in vitro investigations on their antimicrobial and anticancer
594 activities. *Scientific Reports* 11:13068. DOI: 10.1038/s41598-021-92478-4

595 McDermott M, Cerullo AR, Parziale J, Achrak E, Sultana S, Ferd J, Samad S, Deng W, Braunschweig
596 AB, Holford M. 2021. Advancing discovery of snail mucins function and application.
597 *Frontiers in Bioengineering and Biotechnology* 9:734023. DOI: 10.3389/fbioe.2021.734023

598 McManus JFA. 1948. Histological and histochemical uses of periodic acid. *Stain Technology* 23:99-
599 108. DOI: 10.3109/10520294809106232

600 Mowry R W. 1956. Alcian blue techniques for the histochemical study of acidic carbohydrates.
601 *Journal of Histochemistry and Cytochemistry* 4:407-408.

602 Nantarat N, Tragoolpua Y, Gunama P. 2019. Antibacterial activity of the mucus extract from the giant
603 African snail (*Lissachatina fulica*) and golden apple snail (*Pomacea canaliculata*) against
604 pathogenic bacteria causing skin diseases. *Tropical Natural History* 19(2):103-112

605 Nguyen JK, Masub N, Jagdeo J. 2020. Bioactive ingredients in Korean cosmeceuticals: Trends and
606 research evidence. *Journal of Cosmetic Dermatology* 19:1555-1569. DOI: 10.1111/jocd.13344

607 Ohshima H, Bartsch H. 1994. Chronic infections and inflammatory processes as cancer risk factors:
608 possible role of nitric oxide in carcinogenesis. *Mutation Research* 305:253-264. DOI:
609 10.1016/0027-5107(94)90245-3

610 Oyaizu M. 1986. Studies on products of browning reaction antioxidative activities of products of
611 browning reaction prepared from glucosamine. *The Japanese Journal of Nutrition and*
612 *Dietetics* 44:307-315. DOI: 10.5264/eiyogakuzashi.44.307

613 Peña SC, Pocsidio GN. 2017. Histological responses of golden apple snail (*Pomacea canaliculata*) to
614 copper. *Philippine Journal of Science* 146:315-321.

615 Phrompanya P, Suriyareuan N, Nantarat N, Saenphet S, Saenphet K. 2022. Comparative histology in
616 the foot of the giant African snail (*Lissachatina fulica*) and the golden apple snail (*Pomacea*
617 *canaliculata*). In: Proceedings of the 39th MST International Conference, 29-31 March 2022,
618 Pathum Thani, Thailand.

619 Prasad DS, Yashwant, Aeri V. 2013. In vitro anti-inflammatory activity of Raupya (Silver) Bhasma.
620 *Journal of Chemical and Pharmaceutical Research* 5:194-197. DOI: 10.13140/2.1.1525.0888

621 Prociv P, Spratt DM, Carlisle MS. 2000. Neuro-angiostrongyliasis: unresolved issues. *International*
622 *Journal for Parasitology* 30:1295-1303. DOI: 10.1016/s0020-7519(00)00133-8

623 Re R, Pellegrini N, Proteggente A, Pannala A, Yang M, Rice-Evans C. 1999. Antioxidant activity
624 applying an improved ABTS radical cation decolorization assay. *Free Radical Biology and*
625 *Medicine* 26:1231-1237. DOI: 10.1016/s0891-5849(98)00315-3

626 Richter KO. 1980. Movement reproduction defense and nutrition as functions of the caudal mucus
627 plug in *Ariolimax columbianus*. *Veliger* 23:43-47.

628 Ruifrok AC, Johnston DA. 2001. Quantification of histochemical staining by color deconvolution.
629 *Analytical and Quantitative Cytology and Histology* 23:291-299.

630 Sander CS, Hamm F, Elsner P, Thiele JJ. 2003. Oxidative stress in malignant melanoma and non-
631 melanoma skin cancer. *British Journal of Dermatology* 148: 913-922. DOI: 10.1046/j.1365-
632 2133.2003.05303.x

633 Santana W, Melo C, Cardoso J, Pereira-Filho R, Rabelo A, Reis F, Albuquerque RLC. 2012.
634 Assessment of antimicrobial activity and healing potential of mucous secretion of *Achatina*
635 *fulica*. *International Journal of Morphology* 30:365-373.

Formatted: Spanish

Formatted: Spanish

Formatted: Spanish

Formatted: Spanish

636 Sarasquete C, Gisbert E, Ribeiro L, Vieira L, Dinis MT. 2001. Glyconjugates in epidermal, branchial
637 and digestive mucous cells and gastric glands of gilthead sea bream, *Sparus aurata*, Senegal
638 sole, *Solea senegalensis* and Siberian sturgeon, *Acipenser baeri* development. *European*
639 *Journal of Histochemistry* 45:267-278. DOI: 10.4081/1637
640 Smith KJ, Lassmann H. 2002. The role of nitric oxide in multiple sclerosis. *The Lancet Neurology*
641 1:232-241. DOI: 10.1016/S1474-4422(02)00102-3
642 Suwannapan W, Ngankoh S, E-kobon T, Chumnanpuen P. 2019. Mucous cell distribution and mucus
643 production during early growth periods of the giant African snail (*Achatina fulica*).
644 *Agriculture and Natural Resources* 53:423-428.
645 Tagashira M, Ohtake Y. 1998. A New Antioxidative 1,3-Benzodioxole from *Melissa officinalis*. *Planta*
646 *Medica* 64:555-558. DOI: 10.1055/s-2006-957513
647 Traber MG. 2007. Vitamin E regulatory mechanisms. *Annual Review of Nutrition* 27: 347-362. DOI:
648 10.1146/annurev.nutr.27.061406.093819
649 Tsuchida K, Kobayashi M. 2020. Oxidative stress in human facial skin observed by ultraweak photon
650 emission imaging and its correlation with biophysical properties of skin. *Scientific Reports* 10:
651 9626. DOI: 10.1038/s41598-020-66723-1
652 Umamaheswari M, Chatterjee TK. 2007. In vitro antioxidant activities of the fractions of *Coccinia*
653 *grandis* L. leaf extract. *African Journal of Traditional, Complementary, and Alternative*
654 *Medicines* 5:61-73.
655 Wang L, Yang J, Wang Y, Zhang J, Gao Y, Yuan J, Su A, Ju X. 2016. Study on antioxidant activity and
656 amino acid analysis of rapeseed protein hydrolysates. *International Journal of Food Properties*
657 19:1899-1911. DOI: 10.1080/10942912.2015.1085397
658 Wang W, Yi J, Ke S, Halmela M. 2010. Gastropod biological fluid, method of making and refining and
659 use. *United States Patent Application* 20100233111.
660 Wiya C, Nantarat N, Saenphet K. 2020. Antiinflammatory activity of slime extract from giant African
661 snail (*Lissachatina fulica*). *Indian Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences* 82(3):499-505. DOI:
662 10.36468/pharmaceutical-sciences.673
663 Yang SC, Alalawi A, Lin ZC, Lin YC, Aljuffali IA, Fang JY. 2022. Anti-inflammatory microRNAs for
664 treating inflammatory skin diseases. *Biomolecules* 12. DOI: 10.3390/biom12081072

Formatted: Spanish

Formatted: Spanish